

## **NOTICE OF MEETING**

Meeting: GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE

Date and Time: FRIDAY, 3 NOVEMBER 2023, AT 9.30 AM

Place: COUNCIL CHAMBER - APPLETREE COURT, BEAULIEU

**ROAD, LYNDHURST, SO43 7PA** 

Enquiries to: Email: joe.tyler@nfdc.gov.uk

Tel: 023 8028 5982

#### **PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:**

Members of the public may watch this meeting live on the **Council's website**.

Members of the public may speak in accordance with the Council's public participation scheme:

- (a) on items within the General Purposes and Licensing Committee's terms of reference which are not on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls the public participation item; and/or
- (b) on individual items on the public agenda, when the Chairman calls that item. Speeches may not exceed three minutes.

Anyone wishing to speak should contact the name and number shown above no later than 12.00 noon on Tuesday, 31 October 2023.

Kate Ryan
Chief Executive

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA www.newforest.gov.uk

This agenda can be viewed online (<a href="https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk">https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk</a>). It can also be made available on audio tape, in Braille and large print.

## **AGENDA**

## **Apologies**

#### 1. MINUTES

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 22 May 2023 as a correct record.

#### 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an agenda item. The nature of the interest must also be specified.

Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services prior to the meeting.

#### 3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive any public participation in accordance with the Council's public participation scheme.

## **4. MAY 2023 ELECTIONS - POST ELECTION REVIEW** (Pages 3 - 16)

For the Committee to note the issues raised within the report and to approve the action plan contained in Appendix 1.

#### 5. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

To agree the following dates of meeting for 2024/2025 (All Fridays at 09:30)

21 June 2024 6 September 2024 1 November 2024 10 January 2025 7 March 2025

Councillors	Councillors	
Neil Tungate (Chairman) Richard Young (Vice-Chairman) Steve Clarke Jack Davies Philip Dowd Allan Glass David Harrison	David Hawkins Nigel Linford Colm McCarthy Neil Millington Dave Penny Alvin Reid	
	Neil Tungate (Chairman) Richard Young (Vice-Chairman) Steve Clarke Jack Davies Philip Dowd	

#### **GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE - 3 NOVEMBER 2023**

#### **MAY 2023 ELECTIONS - POST ELECTION REVIEW**

#### 1. RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 GP&L note the issues raised within this report and approve the action plan appended.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

- 2.1 The quadrennial District and Parish elections in May posed a number of challenges. Not only are they the most complex type of election to administer, the 2023 elections also included the introduction of the Local Government Boundary Changes to the Council's administrative arrangements, reducing the number of councillors and introducing 26 new district wards, and new legislative requirements including photographic Voter ID in polling stations.
- 2.2 In line with good practice a post election review has been undertaken to look at the adequacy of the arrangements made and where improvements could be made for future elections. This is particularly pertinent with a UK parliamentary election needing to be held within the next 14 months which will prove to be a greater test of some of the new arrangements and requirements.
- 2.3 This report details the findings of the review and presents an action plan to address some of the issues raised and opportunities identified, whilst recognising the safe and successful delivery of these elections.

#### 3. BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW

- 3.1 Due to the complexity of delivering these elections governance arrangements, including a Project Board chaired by the Chief Executive, were put in place to specifically consider progress and delivery of three distinct workstreams:
  - Boundary changes and Polling District and Places Review
  - Elections Act Implementation
  - Administering the elections
- 3.2 This approach and the arrangements put in place ensured successful delivery of the project work streams and the necessary assurance over the management of resources costs and risk. Such arrangements will be replicated in future as good practice.

#### 3.3 Boundary Changes and Polling District and Places Review

The final recommendations of the Local Government Boundary Commission review of New Forest came into effect for the May 2023 election, resulting in the reduction of councillors from 60 to 48 and the implementation of new ward boundaries for each of the 26 new district wards. Furthermore, recommendations for new parish wards in 6 Town and Parish areas were also implemented.

This required extensive and painstaking work to redraw boundaries and ensure all 140,333 electors were accurately assigned to the appropriate ward. The changes also resulted in a need to undertake an interim Polling District and Places Review to ensure polling districts were conterminous with the new boundaries with polling stations identified within each polling district. Consultation sessions were undertaken for district

and parish councillors and parish clerks for each of the parish areas specifically affected and a further session for all other areas to help inform this review, along with the statutory consultation in line with the Electoral Commissions guidance.

To reflect the significance and magnitude of this piece of work a consultant from the Association of Electoral Administrators was commissioned to provide assurance on the approach taken and testing of the final results. The changes resulted in approximately 16,000 electors moving to a different polling station and seven new polling stations being identified and secured. Changes were confirmed in writing to those affected.

## 3.4 Elections Act Implementation

The Elections Act 2022 introduces significant changes to electoral administration and the voting process. The most significant for this set of elections was the introduction of photographic ID at polling stations, which also required a shift from poll cards to polling letters to allow room for the prescribed list of appropriate forms of ID.

Electors without an appropriate form of identification, as set out by the Government, were able to apply for a Voter Authority Certificate and arrangements were made at Information Offices with technology to support electors in making an application. The legislation also included provision for voters to have their identity checked in private and equipment and training was provided to enable this to happen in a sensitive and appropriate way.

The late introduction of secondary legislation, providing detailed requirements, and the government portal resulted in short timescales to adequately implement the required changes, and in some cases resulted in local arrangements being put in place where the national response was inadequate to effectively comply with the law. In spite of this a total of 237 Voter Authority Certificates were processed and 24 voters were refused a ballot paper at the polling station due to not having an appropriate form of Voter ID, representing 0.1% of eligible electors.

Post poll reports have been written by both the Association of Electoral Administrators (AEA) and Local Government Information Unit (LGIU) which suggest that Voter ID has not been entirely stress tested for the expected turnout of a forthcoming Parliamentary Election turnout.

#### 3.5 Administering the Elections

A total of 48 district seats and 350 parish seats were up for election, under the new arrangements already mentioned. As has previously been the case a 'one council' approach was taken to supporting delivery of the elections with 109 staff from across the organisation undertaking roles at polling stations, the count, postal vote opening and issuing, inspecting polling stations and moving equipment and ballot boxes.

Each of the 26 district wards were contested with further contests in 38 parish ward areas. A total of 98 polling station were opened from 7am until close of poll at 10pm and 343 polling station staff employed.

This set of elections was the first since Freedom Leisure took over the operation of the Health & Leisure centres and although the normal count venue of Applemore was still used the new soft play facilities have effectively reduced the available space by one third. A decision was taken to undertake a daytime count, the day after polling, allowing for polling staff to also work at the count and to recognise that fewer count staff could be accommodated which would increase the likely duration of the count. To further support this and reduce potential bottle necks it was decided that each district

ward would be treated as a mini-count from verification to declaration of results, with verified parish papers being moved to a parish counting area.

3.6 A comprehensive communications plan was instrumental in successfully informing voters of the new requirements and issues that might directly affect them, including supporting the national awareness campaign for Voter ID. Methods included videos, social media posts, newspaper advert, posters, resident emails and information being sent to the council's information offices and partner organisation.

#### 4. ISSUES IDENTIFIED

4.1 From feedback gathered and observations during the election timetable a number of issues have been identified where there are opportunities to improvements for future elections. These are summarised below with further detail in the action plan at Appendix 1.

#### 4.2 Nominations, candidates and agents:

In general, the arrangements for receiving nominations and communicating with candidates and agents went well. Candidates were encouraged to make an appointment for an informal check of nomination papers and to formally submit them thereafter. This prevented bottlenecks and candidates and agents needing to wait around for long periods of time. A final check of each nomination paper was undertaken by colleagues from Legal Services, giving confidence in the data entered and reducing the need for subsequent substantive checking.

For one parish council insufficient nomination forms were submitted to meet their quorum threshold, resulting in the need to rerun the entire election process again in that area. Additional work was undertaken in the run up the election to engage with Town and Parishes as to their requirements but this didn't prevent the need to contact some Clerks to remind them of the requirements or to respond to gueries.

The short timescale between the close of nominations and candidate/agent briefing meant that candidate information packs, containing information about the date and time of the briefing, were received just before or on the day of the briefing. Although these dates were published on the website for future elections arrangements for key events, including training will be included in the candidate validation letter.

The briefings themselves were hybrid with some attending in person and some online via a Teams meeting. This enabled more candidates and agents to attend but we were made aware of some online attendees not being granted access to the meeting. To alleviate this and to provide a smoother experience consideration will be given to using webinar technology for future briefings.

#### 4.3 Polling day and polling stations

Accessibility inspections were undertaken of all polling stations by the operations team ahead of the election to identify and resolve any obvious issues. Health & Safety inspections were also undertaken of all new polling stations and records updated. An opportunity was identified to provide a single source and repository for information on each polling station using a shared area on Sharepoint and this will be in place for future elections.

Polling station staff received online training which included a comprehensive overview of the new requirements. Additionally, a briefing was held for all Presiding Officers to provide last minute updates and take any questions just ahead of the poll. This, along with other detailed preparations, helped support the smooth set up and running of polling stations with very few issues arising during the day.

It became quickly apparent that Polling Station Inspectors had been given unachievable deadlines for completing their first visits to their allocated polling stations, this was in part due to the need to check staff were comfortable with the new requirements but also the length and structure of the electronic inspection form which didn't work as well as it was hoped and didn't accommodate double stations in an effective way. Further work is necessary to ensure first visits are achievable within an appropriate timescale to provide the Returning Officer with the necessary assurance that Polling Stations are open and operating effectively.

In some areas the boundary changes, and subsequent changes to an electors allocated polling station led to some confusion with voters attending their previous polling station, despite this information being communicated on a number of occasions. To assist voters some Presiding Officers, on their own initiative, used the post code look up on the online polling station finder. A parliamentary election is likely to have a significantly higher turnout so further communications on these changes will need to continue and, as part of their training, all polling station staff will be encouraged to use the online polling station finder to redirect voters.

#### 4.4 Staffing

Staffing of elections is becoming increasingly difficult as a National issue. Not only are there less people wanting to join the profession but the rates of pay for polling and count staff are becoming less attractive considering additional tasks and responsibilities. The elections also rely on the goodwill of NFDC staff volunteering their time and although this is a paid role over time fewer staff have been interested in getting involved. This poses as significant risk to the successful running of elections.

A staffing campaign in the run up to the May elections was successful in attracting 84 more people into various roles, with the campaign itself being heralded as good practice by the Association of Electoral Administrators. Other authorities are now using the material the NFDC team created for their own campaigns.

However, attracting new staff meant a greater proportion of inexperienced people undertaking key tasks and therefore requiring greater supervision and an increase in the overall bank of staff did not prevent staff dropping out to the point that all reserve Presiding Officers had been exhausted leaving a gap the day before polling. Although this was resolved by a member of staff volunteering this did put considerable pressure on the core team who increasingly feel as though they are increasingly put in the position where they are needing to stretch the good will of others. Clearer expectations on other NFDC teams are needed as to the required support and the implications for their business as usual activities.

Feedback sought from Presiding Officers following the election has directly identified 19 Poll Clerk that they would recommend for future Presiding Officer positions and this information will be used to inform future appointments.

## 4.5 Counting of votes

Without question the count received the greatest feedback in terms of opportunities for improvement. The main feedback included:

Adequacy of training and instructions

Feedback suggested that the training was complex with more practical training preferred and a one page summary or flowchart of instructions to simplify the process on the day.

#### Limited car parking at Applemore Health & Leisure centre

This is a specific issue for daytime counts when the Leisure Centre remains open. Although there is offsite parking in close proximity some candidates were unable to find a parking space at the Centre and Freedom Leisure had to request that cars were moved on several occasions.

#### Available count space

The smaller space led to a number of associated issues, including the time taken, comfort of staff and clear visibility across the count hall by the Returning Officer and Deputy Returning Officer. Feedback also suggested that the hall was too hot.

In previous elections the count hall was able to accommodate 120 count assistants with 12 count supervisors. The new available space allows for 80 count assistants with 10 count supervisors and a smaller team of 16 count assistants and 2 count supervisors in the Parish counting area. Having a separate area made the flow of the process more dis-jointed with a lack of visibility over proceedings.

### Use of grass skirts and associated inactivity

Grass skirts are used as a counting method where multiple candidates are being elected. Although they provide for a very transparent counting of votes, and efficient recounts, they are large, cumbersome and increase the length of time taken. Count Supervisors found it time consuming to add and reconcile the multiple count sheets and in many cases, this resulted in long periods of inactivity for Count Assistants increasing the overall count time. Count Supervisors also struggled to take adequate breaks throughout.

Additionally, grass skirts were only intended to be used for papers that couldn't be counted using a party block voting method. The voting patterns at these elections were not consistent with previous elections and did not support party block voting resulting in more grass skirts being used.

Where grass skirts are used in the future it is proposed that each supervisor has a laptop to enter and reconcile figures with the support of a secondary supervisor. This issue is limited to District and Parish elections.

#### Count management and supervision

There were some inconsistencies in the information provided to Count Supervisors in terms of the process during the count leading to confusion and a lack of visibility across the hall meant that it was difficult to identify the progress of each team. The number and role of Senior Supervisors needs to be reviewed ahead of the next election.

Overall management of the count could be enhanced by the appointment of a dedicated Count Manager to project manage and deliver the count, freeing up core staff to focus on polling day.

#### Doubtful paper adjudication

Count Supervisors reported that they found it difficult to get their doubtful papers adjudicated, delaying the declaration of results. Doubtful papers often become a bottleneck and although the decision was taken to adjudicate papers

at the count tables to alleviate this, there was a lack of visibility to easily determine which tables were ready for adjudication with Senior Supervisors working in pairs which further delayed the process. These arrangements will be reviewed for future elections with clear expectations as to the role of the Senior Supervisors.

A further common issue is the time taken in ensuring the relevant candidates and agents have an opportunity to witness the adjudication and this was further hindered by the lack of free movement in the hall.

#### Length of time taken

Most significantly the count took considerably longer than anticipated, and longer than previous district and parish counts. The smaller space meant a reduction in the number of count assistants and the increased use of grass skirts, along with the number of candidates on parish papers also added to the length of time taken. The indicative timeframe which was based on previous District and Parish elections including a factor to account for fewer staff led to expectations which couldn't be met for the reasons stated. This timeframe wasn't overly ambitious but in light of the significant time needed on this occasion we would caution against setting a timetable in future.

The use of ICT on large screens was helpful in communicating progress to attendees, results were published in real time and new Councillor sign ups worked well.

- 4.6 With the exception of one parish ward all results were declared on 6 May 2023, and no recounts requested which is testament to the confidence in the process. Due to the closeness of the result, staff fatigue and how late in the day it was the Returning Officer took the decision to pause the counting of votes for the one parish area with a recount taking place on Tuesday 10 May 2023, the first opportunity after the public holiday.
- 4.7 An all-out combined district and parish count will always prove to be the most challenging and in the context of these elections it's probably unrealistic to undertake the count for both district and parish papers on the same day for future elections. A specific project team for the count should be established, led by an assigned Count Manager allowing the core team to focus their efforts on delivery of the poll itself.
- 4.8 More immediately there is a need to consider alternative count venues, although previous attempts to secure an alternative have been unsuccessful. The use of multiple venues bring different challenges such as higher quantity of staff needed and additional resources such as ICT and equipment challenges which needs to be considered in the context of the benefits versus the challenges. Applemore as a venue is still viable for parliamentary elections where the counting of votes is much simpler, accepting that it may take longer than it has in the past. This is a high priority on the action plan and an options appraisal will be undertaken and reported back the Returning Officer.

## 5. FURTHER ELECTIONS ACT REQUIREMENTS

5.1 The second tranche of the legislative changes brought about by the Elections Act are still to be delivered. These include online postal vote applications, changes to the postal vote refresh period, votes for life for overseas electors and the rights of EU Citizens, including candidacy rights. Changes to the rights for overseas electors is likely to significantly increase those registered to vote, with only an estimated quarter of those living overseas currently registered.

5.2 Online postal vote applications go live from 31 October 2023. Confidence is low in the government's portal and approach to delivering this service. The new requirements include further verification of electors identity by providing their National Insurance number. The burden being felt by election teams in the processing of paper applications through duplication and rekeying of information from paper forms into a secondary portal. The deadline for verifying postal vote applications is also of concern in that as it stands an elector can be verified for a postal vote as late as polling day. Secondary legislation is still awaited to clarify some of the concerns and enable detailed planning to take place.

#### 6. CONCLUSIONS

- 6.1 Each election is different and the quadrennial district and parish elections will always be the most challenging to deliver. In this respect it is difficult to compare to other elections, but the 2023 elections do provide an opportunity to review the arrangements in place and improvements that can be made as identified in this report.
- 6.2 Staffing and the count venue, along with the additional legislative changes, are the biggest areas of concern and further work needs to be undertaken to mitigate these risks. The next scheduled elections are the Police & Crime Commissioner polls in May 2024.

#### 7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

- 7.1 The costs of running an election are borne by the electing authority, and recovery of Town and Parish election costs is underway for the 2023 elections as the accounts are being finalised. New burden funding has also been received for the legislative changes totalling £94,951 and this has been used to purchase new equipment, including polling booths that double as privacy booths, employing additional customer service staff and polling station staff.
- 7.2 The total estimated cost of the 2023 elections is £376k, with approximately £111k rechargeable to Town & Parish Councils.

#### 8. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

8.1 None directly arising from this report.

#### 9. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 None directly arising from this report.

#### 10. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The new legislation offers the opportunity for electors to prove their identity in private, so as not to dis-enfranchise electors with specific religious or other requirements.

#### 11. DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS

11.1 None directly arising for this report.

## For further information contact:

Background Papers:

Rebecca Drummond Assistant Director - Transformation 023 8028 5820 Rebecca.drummond@nfdc.gov.uk

Debbie Everett Electoral Services Manager 023 8028 5082 Debbie.everett@nfdc.gov.uk None

# **APPENDIX 1**

## **IDENTIFIED ISSUES/OPPORTUNITY ACTION PLAN**

	1	Nominations / Candidate				
	No.	Identified issue(s)	Suggested solution(s)	Action(s)	Timescale	
	1.1	Technical issues accessing hybrid briefing sessions	Work with ICT for core team training and solutions and in the meantime arrange ICT support	Add request to the Election requirements ICT document and test webinar technology through M365	By September 2023 – Completed	
	1.2	Timeliness in candidates receiving their candidate information pack to enable them to attend key events	All correspondence during election period to be sent first class  Key events highlighted in validation letter and on website to give earlier notification of key dates	All correspondence during period to be sent first class including key dates in validation letter  Regularly update website with reminders to Candidates and Agents  Use of Gov.Notify worked well for reminders. Ensure that this is continued	Next Election period	
	1.3	Inquorate parishes	Greater support and liaison with parish clerks	Engage with parish clerks more regularly and build relationships during working year	Build on this from May 2023 onwards	
	2	Polling day / Stations				
	No.	Identified issue(s)	Suggested solution(s)	Action(s)		
	Direction of voters to new polling stations where applicable		Communications to include 'please note your polling station may have changed' where necessary	Include in communication plans and	From February/March 2024 as directed by lead PCC Authority (Southampton)	
		Continued promotion of change of poll card style from A5 card to A4 letter. Letter will clearly show relevant polling station and highlight changes where appropriate	poll station training.			

		Poll station staff to be instructed to use Democracy Club look up post codes and direct voters to their polling station		Beginning Feb 2024 for May Polls
	Polling Station	Split checks over three visits	Review checklists	Before end 2023 and
2.2	inspections target completion times were unachievable	Submit one report for double polling stations	Review procedure for double polling stations	additionally before next Election period
2.3	Shared access to Polling Station information to enable all teams to access and update records during the Election period	Elections to hold all relevant polling station information and share to relevant supporting service area contacts i.e. Health and Safety, Grounds, ICT	Set up SharePoint area and grant permissions to relevant staff	Before September 2023 - Completed
3	Staffing			
No.	Identified issue(s)	Suggested solution(s)	Action(s)	
3.1	Loss of experienced staff due to increased workload, less attractive pay and higher pressures	Greater support and liaison with existing staff  Continued promotion of need for temporary staff to support the Election process	19 poll clerks have been identified and endorsed by their presiding officers as candidates for future senior roles  Contact to be made with these individuals at an early stage to offer them opportunity to work at PO at next poll if needed  Continue to carry out engagement activities to attract new staff	December 2023 – continuous on the run up to 2024 PCC Election
3.2	Greater proportion of new / inexperienced staff	Ensure staff have access to effective, clear guidance concerning their role	Review training provision and job descriptions at all levels	By December 2023
3.3	Fewer NFDC staff volunteering	Consideration needs to be given to council wide expectations to support elections activities	Addition direction from RO supported by EMT to ensure we reach all available NFDC staff	December 2023 - continuous on the run up to 2024 PCC Election

4	Count			
No.	Identified issue(s)	Suggested solution(s)	Action(s)	
4.1	Adequacy of training and instructions	Simplified training.  Quick guide or 'one pager' for easy access guidance and consistency within teams.  Practical hands-on training	Review training content and practical processes	Review and implement learning points before 2024 PCC Elections.
4.2	Count management and supervision	Ensure a clear senior lead and consistent approach amongst senior staff  Ensure clear senior lead with overview of entire process.  Senior Supervisors to work independently one to each half of	Clear and documented roles and responsibilities  Carrying out regular supervisor huddles throughout the day to update on progress  Appointment of count manager to oversee the entire process	Review and implement learning points before 2024 PCC Elections.
4.3	Reduction in available space	Review alternative venues and arrangements such as split count venues/days	Explore alternative venues and compile an options appraisal for consideration by the Returning Officer  Accept and mitigate against difficulties i.e., conducting count over two days, employment of additional supervisors and count staff	Before end of 2023  Before end of 2023
4.4	Use of grass skirts and associated inactivity	Employment of additional supervisor	Review number of count assistants per team i.e., great number of teams with less staff per table	Before 2027 Local Elections

			Use laptops to reconcile grass skirts on master sheet  Employee deputy supervisor to monitor progress while grass skirts are being reconciled to better use available time and resource	
4.5	Adjudication of doubtful papers process	Review the process adopted for this count to avoid downtime and delay for this process	Review system for adjudication to ensure smooth flow of activities and speed up declaration of results	Early 2024
4.6	Parking and Transportation	Consider daytime count vs night time counting for adequate parking.	Discuss parking options with Freedom Leisure (eg parking on grassed areas)	By September 2023 – Completed
			Consider offering sustainable travel options	From December 2023
4.7	Results	Review process for results and final checks	To review the whole process of final checks and role of Head Table to ensure efficiency without the loss of accuracy identify ways to incorporate the results system to reduce double handling  Establish the results system  Mod.Gov to reduce double handling, provide real time information on	From Jan 2024 From Jan 2024
			provide real time information on declarations and display progress	

5	Future Challenges			
No.	Identified issue(s)	Suggested solution(s)	Action(s)	
5.1	Implementation of Election Act Tranche 2	Awaiting further Guidance to identify resource and risks	Core team to attend relevant training provided by AEA / DLUHC	From Oct 2023
	changes		Create Operational and Project plan	From Oct 2023
5.2	Retention and appointment of staff	Continue to develop our Election	RO/EMT to identify resource and availability	From Dec 2023
		staff strategy	Continue engagement plans for recruitment and promotion	From Oct 2023

This page is intentionally left blank